
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

 
 

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel A 

A meeting of the above Panel will be held on  
 

Monday 20 June 2022 
 

      Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman) 
      Councillor S P Butterfill (Vice-Chairman) 
      Councillor E H Ben Moussa 
      Councillor D Butler-Ruhle 
      Councillor L A Canham 
      Councillor P Cutler 
      Councillor L H K Edie 
      Councillor B Garden 
      Councillor R Gosine 
 

Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor G R Holt 
Councillor T A Maddison 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor E E Palmer 
Councillor M I Peters 
Councillor D J Reynolds 
 

 

Cabinet 
A meeting of the above will be held on  

 
Thursday 23 June 2022 

 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman) Councillor C J Shippam 

(Vice-Chairman) Councillor S H Brown 

Councillor A R Lloyd Councillor D J Mote Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells   

 
Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford 

 
Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services 

Wednesday 15 June 2022 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 



 
CABINET ADVISORY PANEL A  

Monday 20 June 2022 
 

CABINET 
Thursday 23 June 2022 

 
AGENDA 

  
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 

terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services. 
 

 

 
3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held 

on 26 May 2022 (Pages 1 - 16) 
 

 Summary: 
 
To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 26 
May 2022. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 26 May 2022 
be approved as an accurate record. 
 

 

 
4. Urgent Items   
 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 

urgent items and their position on the agenda. 
 

 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC 
 
5. To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 20 

June 2022  
 

 To follow 
 

 
 
6. References from Other Committees   
 None at this stage. 

 
 

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations 

There are no items in this section of the agenda. 
 
 



B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports 
 
7. Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code - Self 

Assessment (Pages 17 - 54) 
 

 Summary: 
 
The Housing Ombudsman published a revised Complaint Handling 
Code in April 2022, setting out requirements for social housing 
landlords to meet in their approach to complaints handling. There 
is an obligation on the Council, as a social housing landlord, to 
self-assess against the Code annually, to report the results of the 
self-assessment to Members and publish the results, and to 
demonstrate learning on complaints in annual reports to tenants. 
This report presents the Council’s self-assessment against the 
Code. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
1. That the self-assessment, completed in accordance with the 

Housing Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code, attached at 
Appendix A to the report, be noted; 

2.  That the self-assessment is published on the housing complaints 
section of the website, be noted; and  

   
3. That the actions for addressing non-compliance with the Code, 

as set out in Appendix B to the report, be noted. 
 

 

 
8. Street Naming and Numbering - Alkerden Locality, Phase 2 

(Parcel 5A) (Pages 55 - 58) 
 

 Summary: 
 
To approve four new road names for the second phase of the 
Alkerden locality in Ebbsfleet Valley. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the four new road names for the second phase of the Alkerden 
locality in Ebbsfleet Valley be approved as Colyer, Combes, Hassell 
and Homefield 
 

 

C - Items for Information, noting, endorsing 

There are no items in this section of the agenda. 
 



1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 26 May 2022 at 7.00 pm  
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman) 
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor A R Lloyd 
Councillor D J Mote 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

ALSO PRESENT: 
 
OFFICERS: 

Councillor D Swinerd 
 
Sarah Martin, Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services 
Peter Dosad, Director of Housing & Public Protection 
Caroline Hicks, Director of Growth & Community 
Alan Twyman, Democratic Services Manager 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
The Chairman welcomed members of the public and the press to the meeting. 
He briefly explained the process whereby non-executive Members of the 
Council were able to inform Cabinet decision making by their participation in 
the Cabinet Advisory Panel meeting which was held on the Monday preceding 
each Cabinet meeting. 
 
He also welcomed Councillor Swinerd, the Lead Member for Parks, Open 
Spaces and Heritage, to the meeting.   
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

3. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET 
HELD ON 21 APRIL 2022  
 
The Cabinet considered the minutes of its meeting held on 21 April 2022. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 21 April 2022 be 
confirmed as an accurate record. 
 

4. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2022 

2

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

5. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 23 MAY 2022  
 
The Cabinet considered the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel 
B which took place on Monday 23rd May 2022 and had regard to the Panel’s 
views throughout the meeting. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of Cabinet Advisory Panel B held on 23rd May 2022 be 
noted. 
 

6. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES  
 
There were no references from other committees. 
 

7. COUNCILLOR ANN ALLEN - MEMORIAL SERVICE  
 
The Chairman informed Members that he had attended the Memorial Service 
for the late Councillor Ann Allen the previous day at Canterbury Cathedral. It 
had been a very memorable and emotional day which had highlighted 
Councillor Allen’s enormous contribution to the community. He paid tribute to 
Councillor Allen’s family and thanked the organisers of the service. 
 
Councillor Thurlow said that she had also attended the service which had 
been a lovely celebration of Councillor Allen’s life and her work for the people 
of Dartford and Kent. 
 

8. FLEETDOWN UNITED FOOTBALL CLUB - CONSULTATION ON OPEN 
SPACE DISPOSAL - NOTICE OF INTENTION TO LEASE LAND HELD FOR 
THE PURPOSES OF PUBLIC OPEN SPACE  
 
 
The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the background to proposals 
for land at Heath Lane by the Trustees of Fleetdown United Football Club. 
The Trustees of the Fleetdown United Football Club had been awarded 
external funding from FA/Sport England for the upgrading of the Club’s 
facilities and for maintaining/improving the football pitches. However the grant 
of funds was conditional on the Club having an unexpired lease term of at 
least 25 years. The current lease was due to expire in 2037 (15 years). The 
Club was also seeking to enclose the main pitches and to protect its facilities 
by erecting a fence between the field access gate (from Heath Lane) and the 
fences of properties in Roseberry Gardens backing onto the pitches as shown 
on the plan attached at Appendix A to the report. In accordance with statutory 
requirements to give public notice of the intention to dispose of open space 
land the Council issued public notice in a local newspaper and on the 
Council’s web site and issued further public notices in April as a result of 
significant public interest in the proposed land disposal.  
 
A total of 414 responses were received to the consultations, of which 323 
opposed the proposal, 91 were in favour and 10 agreed with the lease but not 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2022 

 

3

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

the fence. The Council had also received a petition containing 20 signatures 
opposing the disposal of the land as outlined in Appendix A to the report. The 
main objections related to concern around the loss of public open space, lack 
of future access for dog walkers or availability for recreational use and 
concern about possible intensification of use by the football club. However the 
principal complaint was the Club’s proposal to fence off the larger part of the 
playing field which it believed to be necessary to protect the playing surface 
and to improve security following the proposed substantial investment in the 
facilities, for which planning permission would need to be obtained by the 
Club. The Cabinet was invited to determine whether it wished to accede to the 
Club’s proposals for the land by granting a further lease, or not, and if it 
decided to grant the lease whether it should grant landlord consent for the 
erection of a fence (subject to the Club obtaining the necessary planning 
consents). 
 
The Chairman said that this matter had generated considerable feeling in the 
local area and that the Cabinet had a difficult decision to make. In such 
circumstances it was particularly important that this was driven by the 
evidence, was fair and was the best decision that could be made for the entire 
community. It was possible that this could upset some people and the Council 
would have to work to bring the community back together if this occurred. He 
commented on the fantastic work carried out by Fleetdown Football Club in 
terms of its youth and community work and that the Club was a valued 
partner. However the many people who were opposing the Club’s application 
were equally valued and similarly well intentioned in their opposition to the 
loss of public access to the existing open space. He noted the outcome of the 
public consultation, which had rightly been extended given the strength of 
feeling in the locality, and noted that the overwhelming majority of 
respondents opposed the Club’s plans, although there had also been 
significant support for the proposals. He felt that the best approach was to 
break the proposals down into its constituent parts. 
 
The first issue was the Club’s request for an extension to its current lease, 
which had 15 years to run, on the grounds that it required a minimum 
unexpired lease of 25 years in order to secure funding for ground 
improvements from the Football Association, which was not an uncommon 
requirement by funding bodies. He explained that he and a number of Cabinet 
colleagues had recently visited the open space and had spoken to users of 
the Club and recreational users during that visit but that there had been no 
prior discussion about the proposals. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance said that the relationship between 
the Club and the local community had been good and that the Club carried 
out a lot of good work. He recognised that the Club needed investment to 
improve its facilities and supported the provision of an extended lease to 
secure this funding. The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Arts & Culture also 
supported the extension of the lease. 
 
The Chairman clarified that although this was deemed to be a disposal of 
public open land this was just a technical term that was applied when the 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2022 

4

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

Council granted a lease to such land for a period of 7 years or longer and that 
the Council remained the owner and landlord where such a lease was 
granted. Given the views expressed by the Cabinet he concluded that 
Members supported the granting of an extended lease to the Club. 
 
The Chairman now turned to the proposal to fence off part of the open land, 
which appeared to be the most emotive issue for local users. The Club had 
explained that it wished to do this to protect the sports pitches, to deter anti-
social behaviour and occasional mis-use by dog walkers who did not pick up 
excrement left by their dogs on the land and on the sport pitches. Enclosing 
the land would also allow the Club to lay-out equipment in advance of 
matches without the fear of damage. 
 
The Lead Member for Parks, Open Space & Heritage said that he was 
attending the meeting in his role as the Lead Member for this matter and also 
as a Councillor for West Hill where many residents used this particular open 
space for recreational purposes. Whilst he was sympathetic to the Club’s wish 
to take its development further he could not support the fencing-in of land that 
had been public open space for many years thereby denying public access. 
He pointed out that it was possible for the interests of sports clubs and 
recreational users to co-exist and pointed to the example of Hesketh Park 
where Dartford Cricket Club was based but which remained accessible to the 
public. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance explained that this was legacy land 
where there was a legal requirement that the land could only be used for 
recreational purposes. He noted that the current lease with Fleetdown 
Football Club did restrict the right of public access to the space, but only when 
the Club was playing matches or training. He also recognised that there was 
occasional anti-social behaviour and activities that damaged the land, such as 
from portable barbeques, and dog fouling and was sympathetic to the Club in 
this respect. However he recognised that this was also an area enjoyed by 
local residents and could not support fencing off the main part of the open 
space. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Housing cited other examples in his area 
where sports clubs co-existed with public use and was concerned that 
building a fence would prove divisive. 
 
The Chairman said that that proposed fence would have a significant impact 
on the character and look of the open space; it was a big fence stretching a 
long way. During his site visit he had observed the users and noted that whilst 
some people respected the pitches others either walked across them or 
tended to drift subconsciously onto them. He felt that there were other ways in 
which it might be possible to guide people to respect the integrity of the 
pitches, possibly by soft landscaping rather than fencing, and if existing gating 
arrangements were not deterring use by motorcyclists, as alleged, then these 
would need to be revisited.   
 
The Chairman read out an email which had been sent to Cabinet Members by 
Ian Gould, Fleetdown FC’s Development Officer, proposing some mitigations 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2022 

 

5

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

to the original fencing proposal, but still wishing to fence the area to restrict 
public access. 
 
The Chairman summarised the discussion from which it was clear that 
Members did not support the proposed fence. He stressed however that there 
were other ways that the Council might be able to help the Club and that this 
might be a real opportunity for the Council and the Club to establish a 
stronger, mutually beneficial, partnership relationship which could also involve 
recreational users. He felt that soft landscaping could provide suitable 
delineation of the land and that the Council could assist with measures to 
deter anti-social behaviour, by looking at gating and the possibility of patrols 
by the Council’s enforcement contractors to address littering and dog fouling, 
and to provide secure storage closer to the pitches for the Club’s equipment 
and potential enhancement of the Club’s own CCTV system.   
 
A representative of the football club explained the challenges that the Club 
faced in terms of damage to its equipment and maintaining the condition of 
the pitches and that, if the Club progressed to higher leagues, the FA’s 
requirements for the condition of the ground would also increase. 
 
An objector explained that recreational users and the Club had co-existed 
happily for many years, that there was wide support for the Club locally. 
People accepted that there were times when public access to some areas 
was restricted, when the Club was actually playing or repairing/re-seeding 
pitches. However there were many objections to restricting public access to 
such a great extent and the erection of a fence. 
 
The Chairman said that it was a priority for the Council to explore ways that it 
could assist Fleetdown Football Club proactively to address some of its issues 
of concern and that this should include involvement of local people. He 
thanked the public for responding to the consultation and for attending the 
meeting.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That, having considered the representations made in relation to the 

Council’s notice of intention to dispose (through the grant of a further 
lease) of approximately 3.1 hectares of land at Heath Lane to Fleetdown 
United Football Club, the Cabinet confirms (through the grant of a further 
lease) the disposal of land at Heath Lane edged red and partly cross-
hatched, on the plan at Appendix B to the report;  

 
2.  That, having considered the representations, including the submission of 

a petition (as detailed in Appendix A to the report), made to the Council in 
relation to proposals by the Trustees of Fleetdown United Football Club to 
request landlord consent for the erection of a fence, the Cabinet does not 
grant landlord consent for the erection of the fence; and 

 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2022 

6

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

3.  That, authority be granted to the Director of Growth and Community, in 
consultation with the Head of Legal Services and the Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for Finance, to approve the heads of terms of the lease to the 
Trustees of the Fleetdown United Football Club.  

 
9. WESTGATE AND FORMER CO-OP SITE DEVELOPMENT  

 
The Cabinet considered a report which provided an update on matters relating 
to the Westgate and former Co-Op site in Dartford Town Centre. The report 
detailed the earlier proposals to develop this key site and the significant 
changes to the commercial property market since the inception of the 
proposals which had impacted on the viability of the development. The 
Council had worked hard with its development partner, Muse Developments 
Limited, but in spite of best endeavours, this work revealed that even the most 
appropriate proposal on commercial terms would require considerable Council 
investment and involve a scale and density of development incompatible with 
the Council’s determination for any scheme to reflect the town’s traditional 
market-town character. The Council was determined to safeguard this 
important regeneration site from inappropriate development by acquiring full 
title and to terminate the development agreement predicated on commercial 
returns. This would enable the Council to bring forward more appropriate, 
lower impact proposals which could be delivered in the current market and 
make a lasting contribution to the regeneration of the town centre community.  
The collaboration agreement between the Council and Homes England ended 
on 15 April 2022 and it was now proposed that the Council should seek to 
acquire the freehold interest in the site from Homes England which, along with 
the existing adjacent landholding, would allow the Council to have better 
control to produce a regeneration plan to develop the site as a housing –led 
scheme of a quality and density appropriate to the town centre site. 
 
The Chairman said that the original development proposal had become 
unviable as circumstances had changed in the development market, the NHS 
had withdrawn their involvement and the design had changed in terms of 
height and density to try and retain viability to the point where it was no longer 
what the Council had wanted for the town centre. He said that he believed 
that too few Councils were willing to halt proposals that were no longer 
acceptable to the public and that the desire to make progress sometimes 
saddled a community with an unpopular and unattractive development. A 
brave decision had therefore been taken to change tack and it was proposed 
to purchase the part of the site belonging to Homes England to bring the 
entire site under the Council’s ownership and control. This would enable the 
Council to progress a more suitable scheme that was appropriate to the town 
centre, primarily for housing. He noted that the proposal had been discussed 
at the Cabinet Advisory Panel on 23rd May where questions had been asked 
about the initial payment to the developer. He clarified that this money had 
been used to carry out pre-development site investigations and surveys and 
that the intellectual property that had resulted belonged to the Council. These 
surveys would have had to be undertaken prior to any development of the site 
so were still valid and represented good value towards the final development. 
He also noted that CAP had asked questions about the purchase of the land 
from Homes England. 

Page 6Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2022 

 

7

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

 
The Director of Growth & Community said that the site had been 
independently valued and that both parties to the deal were happy with the 
valuation. Homes England was also supportive of the land being primarily 
used for housing and no numbers had been stipulated.    
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance sought clarification on some matters 
contained in the Exempt Appendices to the report. 
 
The Cabinet therefore resolved to go into closed session and the member of 
the press present, there being no members of the public present at this point, 
left the meeting. 
 
Clarification of the points raised by the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance 
was provided. 
 
The member of the press was re-admitted to the meeting which went back 
into open session.  

 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the Council agrees to the mutual termination of the Development 
Agreement with Muse Development Limited; 

2. That the Council approves a payment to Muse (to a maximum value as 
indicated in exempt appendix A to the report) in respect of work 
undertaken by Muse under the Development Agreement from which it 
will no longer benefit.  The rights to appropriate surveys, designs, 
schedules, environmental assessments and studies will revert to the 
Council and inform future proposals;  

 
3.  That the Council approves the acquisition of the Freehold Property 

interest in the former Co-op site development from Homes England (to a 
maximum value as indicated in exempt appendix B to the report) to 
enable the Council to secure and safeguard the asset for future 
regeneration of the town centre; 

4. That Cabinet recommends to the General Assembly of Council an 
increase in the capital programme budget to support the acquisition at 
recommendation 3; and 

5. That the progression of the design and development of the project with 
associated costs be approved to a maximum value of £250,000 Ex VAT. 

 
10. PROPOSAL FOR THE MAKING OF THE DARTFORD BOROUGH 

COUNCIL PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 2022 - NUISANCE 
VEHICLES - BOROUGH OF DARTFORD FOLLOWING PUBLIC 
CONSULTATION  
 
The Chairman changed the order of items in the agenda to take this item 
ahead of the remainder of the agenda. 

Page 7 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2022 

8

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

 
The Director of Housing & Public Protection introduced a report which detailed 
the outcome of the public consultation on the proposal to introduce a Public 
Spaces Protection Order (PSPO). This followed consideration of this matter 
by Cabinet on 24Th February 2022 when authority was given to progress the 
making of a PSPO under Part 4, Section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014 to supress the growing incidents of traffic 
offences and associated anti-social behaviour occurring principally due to 
nuisance vehicles across the Borough. The statutory public consultation 
process had been undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Consultation 
and Engagement Strategy Toolkit. This included consultation with the Police 
and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC), Kent 
Highways, and Parish Councils. Contact was also made with Bluewater, the 
management agents of Quadrant Court and Asda, all of whom have been 
significantly affected by the nuisance behaviour that the PSPO would seek to 
address. There were 108 responses from members of the local community, 
which were summarised in Appendix D to the report, of which 91% were in 
favour of making the PSPO, including the Police and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and 78% supported the area to be covered by the order. It was 
therefore recommended that the PSPO should be made so that enforcement 
action could begin, including the issuing of £100 Fixed Penalty Notices. It was 
noted that the Police were highly supportive of the making of the order which 
would give them additional tools to address anti-social nuisance behaviours in 
addition to their existing powers. The Council’s enforcement contractor, 
Kingdom, would also be enforcing the new Order. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Housing welcomed the making of the order 
and congratulated the Community Safety Unit for taking this forward to a 
conclusion and hoped that this would also deter people coming to Dartford to 
engage in nuisance behaviours. 
 
The Chairman stressed that the PSPO was only part of the solution, but was 
an important additional tool that could be used by the Council and the Police 
proactively. The member of the press asked whether the Council might also 
consider the use of so called noise-cameras and the Chairman said that, 
whilst there was no intention to do so currently, nothing was off the table and 
the Council would consider anything that might help to provide a solution to 
eradicate unacceptable behaviours. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That, on being satisfied that the anti-social behaviour activities detailed 

in Appendix C (previous report to Cabinet on 24 February 2022) to the 
report are still having, or likely to have, a detrimental effect on the 
quality of life of those in the locality, are persistent or continuing in 
nature, remain unreasonable and that on the basis that the 
consultation process has confirmed local support for the making of the 
Order, The Dartford Borough Council Public Spaces Protection Order 
2022 – Nuisance Vehicles, Dartford Borough, be made, prohibiting 
anti-social behaviour associated with the gathering, displaying and 
racing of motor vehicles as well as driving on land other than a road on 

Page 8Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2022 

 

9

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

terms set out in Appendix A to the report, to apply to the whole of the 
Council’s administrative area, as identified on the Order Map, at 
Appendix B to the report; 

2. That the Director of Housing and Public Protection, in consultation with 
the Head of Legal Services, be authorised to undertake the statutory 
notice process for the making of the Order in accordance with the Anti-
social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (Publication of Public 
Spaces Protection Orders) Regulations 2014; 

3. That, having made the Public Spaces Protection Order 2022 – Dartford 
Borough – Nuisance Vehicles, it not be enforced until the expiry of the  
statutory 6 week period allowing for the Order to be challenged at the 
High Court; 

4. That the fixed penalty notice fine be set at £100, with immediate effect. 
  
 

11. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY - UNPARISHED AREAS OF THE 
BOROUGH  
 
The Director of Growth and Community presented a report which detailed out 
proposals for the use of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding 
available to support the delivery of non-strategic infrastructure within the 
unparished areas of the Borough required to support growth arising from new 
development. Since the introduction of CIL funding a proportion of CIL 
receipts (the Neighbourhood Portion) had been transferred to the parish/town 
Council’s to support the delivery of strategic infrastructure within their areas. 
The Council had also retained an equivalent portion of CIL funding for the 
unparished parts of the Borough in a separate funding pot which at the end of 
the 2021/22 amounted to £2.53M and was accumulating at an average of 
£316K per annum.  
At its meeting on 9th December 2021 the Cabinet agreed that further work 
should be carried out to establish governance arrangement which could 
enable the release of retained CIL funding for projects in unparished parts of 
the borough. It was proposed that the key principles for the governance of the 
unparished CIL portion should reflect the governance arrangements adopted 
for the management and allocation of the CIL funding retained by the Council 
for strategic infrastructure improvements.  An allowance would be made for 
the scale of projects and local priorities but in essence the projects would 
need to address the impacts of development in the unparished areas, support 
the Local Plan policies on spatial strategy/sustainable development whilst also 
contributing towards the Council’s Corporate Plan objectives. It was 
appreciated that lack of experience and expertise in community and 
neighbourhood groups was likely to impact on the identification of suitable 
projects. For this reason it was proposed that an initial programme of projects 
to be delivered within the unparished areas of the Borough should be drawn 
up through discussions with Council service departments and key 
infrastructure service providers such as KCC Highways.  It was also proposed 
to consult local Members.  For the initial programme a cap £500,000 CIL 
funding would be employed and the projects would need to meet the eligibility 

Page 9 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2022 

10

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

criteria and demonstrate that that they could be delivered within the next 12-
18 months.  
The report also asked the Cabinet to determine whether it wished to support 
the concept of using crowdfunding to support community projects, possibly by 
introducing a pilot whereby the Council might use CIL match-funding for 
projects that reached a certain degree of donations or to set aside a fixed 
amount from the unparished CIL to support projects delivered by 
crowdfunding.  
The Cabinet noted the points raised at the Cabinet Advisory Panel meeting on 
23rd May. 
 
The Chairman noted the proposed governance arrangements and that there 
would be a Members Sub-Group with a core membership drawn from the 
Cabinet and opposition to set principles. When this came to consider ward 
applications he expected local ward Members to agree which one of them 
would attend on behalf of the ward, if they were all from the same party, or 
one from each political group. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the governance principles for the management and decision making 

of CIL funding retained by the Council for the unparished areas of the 
Borough, as set out in paragraphs 5.1 to 5.2 and Appendix B of the 
report, be agreed; 

2. That the Head of Planning Services be authorised to develop an initial 
delivery programme of projects for the unparished areas of the Borough, 
as set out in paragraphs 5.5 to 5.7 of the report, and that a further report 
to Cabinet in late summer/early autumn of 2022 be submitted for 
approval, to consult the local community on this programme; 

3. That further work be undertaken regarding the issue of community 
capacity, as set out in paragraphs 5.3 to 5.4 of the report, with a further 
report to Cabinet in 2023, on the results of this work and the implications 
for the Council; and 

4. That further work be undertaken to explore the possible opportunities for 
crowdfunding to support the allocation of CIL funding, as set out in 
paragraphs 6.1 to 6.3 of the report, with a further report to Cabinet on this 
matter later in 2022. 

 
12. DRAFT PRIVATE SECTOR RENEWAL STRATEGY 2022-2025  

 
The Director of Housing & Public Protection presented a report which 
proposed the latest iteration of the draft Private Sector Housing Renewal 
Strategy for 2022-2025. This had been informed by a comprehensive study 
carried out by the Building Research Establishment (BRE) on the condition of 
housing stock in the Borough, with a particular emphasis on the private rented 
stock. The report highlighted the key findings of the study and the comparison 
with the condition of the Council’s own housing stock.  
 

Page 10Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2022 

 

11

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

The key findings had been used to help to establish the following strategic 
priorities for private sector housing renewal in the Borough: 

 
1. To enable residents to live independently in safe and healthy homes. The 

key areas associated with this priority are:  
 

 Elimination of Category 1 HHSRS hazards and reduction of 
disrepair  

 Promotion of safe independent living for those residents who wish 
it 
 

2. To decrease the numbers of households who are in fuel poverty and/or 
suffering from ‘excess cold’ and improve the overall energy efficiency of 
the private sector stock in Dartford. The key areas associated with this 
priority are:  

 
 Elimination of Category 1 HHSRS Excess Cold Hazard 
 Wall and loft insulation measures 
 Efficient heating methods 
 Improved Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) and Standard 

Assessment Procedure (SAP) ratings  
 

The Strategy detailed the Council’s approach to housing renewal, including 
how it will take geographic area based, sector based and client based 
approaches. It also explained the various forms of housing renewal 
assistance available, including statutory and discretionary financial 
assistance, as well as non-financial assistance. The associated Action Plan 
set out various actions and target dates for achieving each of the strategic 
priorities. It was proposed that performance will be monitored through a 
private sector housing strategy steering/implementation group to be 
established to oversee and monitor implementation of the Strategy. 
 
The draft Strategy had been widely consulted with key partners and 
members of the public had had the opportunity to provide their views. The 
results of the consultation were reported at Appendix B to the report.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the draft Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy 2022-2025, 
attached at Appendix A to the report, be approved. 
 

13. DRAFT HOUSING RECHARGE POLICY  
 
The Director of Housing & Public Protection introduced a report which detailed 
the draft Housing Recharge Policy 2022. This set out the items that existing 
and former tenants, leaseholders, and those who have received other 
financial assistance might be charged for and the process of recharging in 
relation to repairs and maintenance that are the responsibility of the resident. 
The draft policy sought to be transparent and to proactively promote a 
responsible attitude from Tenants and Leaseholders towards their property, 

Page 11 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2022 

12

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

and the environment in which they live, by the provision of information and 
support and reactively by ensuring that costs, where justified, are pursued 
from those who are negligent or deliberately cause damage. The report gave 
examples of works and repairs that would be considered to be rechargeable. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the draft Housing Recharge Policy, at Appendix A to the report, be 
approved. 
 

14. LAND EAST OF LOWFIELD STREET DEVELOPMENT - 
REDEVELOPMENT BY BELLWAY (THAMES GATEWAY) PHASES 2 & 3 - 
BOUNDARY MATTERS  
 
The Director of Growth & Community introduced a report which advised the 
Cabinet that certain anomalies had been identified relating to interpretation of 
the legal boundary between land owned by Bellway (Thames Gateway) east 
of Lowfield Street, which was subject to development, and land owned by the 
Council and Kidd Legacy land. Plans produced by Bellway prior to Phases 2 
and 3 of the development appeared to Officers to encroach slightly into the 
Kidd Legacy Land and areas of Central Park owned by the Council. A 
specialist boundary survey had been carried out to provide an expert opinion 
on the legal boundary but had been inconclusive due to the absence of some 
of the original boundary markers. The legal boundary line suggested by the 
surveyor had been rejected by Bellway as it had implications for the proposed 
development. Given the ambiguities that existed, and in an effort to avoid a 
costly and counter-productive boundary dispute, the Council and the 
developer had sought to agree a definitive legal boundary acceptable to all of 
the parties concerned.  It was confirmed that no changes were being made to 
the legal extent of Central Park. This also had implications for the boundary 
with the Kidd legacy land which had already been reported to the Deed, Trust 
and Obligations Committee on 12 April 2022 and that Committee, acting as 
Charitable Trustee, had assented to the proposed legal boundary relating to 
Kidd Legacy land. The Cabinet  was asked, specifically, to agree the 
proposed legal boundary between the Council’s land and land owned by 
Bellway, marked by the line A-C-D on the plan attached at Appendix A to the 
report. Once agreed by the Cabinet the developer would arrange for an 
application to be made to HM Land Registry to record the agreed legal 
boundary.  
 
Given the proximity of Bellway’s development to the Central Park boundary 
(marked A – C - D on the plan at Appendix A to the report), it was inevitable 
that some access would be required from the Central Park side during the 
construction phase. Bellway had requested a temporary licence for access to, 
and use of, a narrow strip of land in Central Park adjoining the construction 
site boundary for the erection of scaffolding and working space for the 
duration of the works. Bellway would be required to pay the Council’s legal 
and surveyor costs for the licence and to reinstate the land once the licence 
ends. 
 

Page 12Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2022 

 

13

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

The Chairman clarified that there had been no disposal of land merely 
clarification of the legal boundary between adjacent landowners. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That, as advised by the surveyor, Cabinet notes: 

(a)  the position of the boundary line edged green (adjoining Central Park), 
marked A – C - D, on the plan at Appendix A to the report; 

(b) that agreement has been reached with Bellway Homes Limited on the 
legal boundary line (edged green); 

 
2. That Cabinet consents to the submission of an application to the HM Land 

Registry, to record the agreement reached with Bellway Homes Limited on 
the clarified legal boundary line; 

 
3. That following the submission of an application to HM Land Registry, the 

Director of Growth & Community, in consultation with the Head of Legal 
Services, be authorised to deal with any requisitions raised by HM Land 
Registry; and  

4. That, for the reasons detailed in para. 3.12 of the report, the Director of 
Growth & Community, in consultation with the Head of Legal Services, be 
authorised to grant a temporary licence to Bellway Homes Limited, for 
access to Dartford Central Park enable the erection of scaffolding and 
working space for the duration of its development works. 

 
15. AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN - CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 
The Director of Housing & Public Protection introduced a report which detailed 
recent air quality findings within the borough and sought approval for the Air 
Quality Action Plan – Consultation Draft to be taken forward to public 
consultation. The report considered air quality monitoring across the borough 
and compliance with National Air Quality Objectives, which were most 
commonly associated with traffic emissions, which were the dominant source 
of air pollution across the borough. Whilst improvement in levels of air 
pollution had been seen across the borough in the last ten years, the 
administration had identified pollution levels and air quality as priorities for the 
Council and an essential component of its intention to create cleaner and 
greener places to live and work. When a local authority has declared an Air 
Quality Management Area, of which Dartford has three, it has a statutory duty 
to produce an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) detailing measures aimed to 
improve air quality. A new AQAP was now needed to set out new measures to 
seek further improvements and the Council had engaged a specialist 
contractor, Bureau Veritas, to assist with the development of a new AQAP. An 
officer working group, including Council and Kent County Council officers, was 
working with Bureau Veritas to develop a schedule of measures to reduce 
emissions and these had been taken forward in the Consultation Draft of the 
AQAP.   
  

Page 13 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2022 

14

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

The developed actions within the AQAP had been categorised under five 
broad topics: 

 Priority 1: Public Health and Wellbeing; 
 Priority 2: Transport; 
 Priority 3: Air Quality Partnerships; 
 Priority 4: Planning and Infrastructure; 
 Priority 5: Policy 

 
The Council was required to consult on the AQAP with relevant stakeholders 
and the public, including a submission to DEFRA. Following this consultation 
exercise, any findings would be used to inform and finalise the AQAP which 
would be brought back to Cabinet for formal adoption. 
 
The Cabinet noted the points raised during the Cabinet Advisory Panel’s 
meeting on 23rd May 2022. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the air quality findings, both historic and recent monitoring data 

available for NO2 and PM10, as detailed in Appendix B to the report and 
associated work, as detailed in the body of the report, be noted; 

 
2. That the contents of the Air Quality Action Plan – Consultation Draft, at 

Appendix A to the report, be approved and that the Plan be taken forward 
for consultation; and 

 
3. That following the consultation exercise, the draft Air Quality Action Plan be 

presented to Cabinet, for adoption. 
 

16. MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE HELD ON 15 MARCH 
2022  
 
The Cabinet considered the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview 
Committee held on 15 March 2022. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 15 
March 2022 be noted. 
 

17. WESTGATE AND FORMER CO-OP SITE DEVELOPMENT - EXEMPT 
APPENDICES A AND B  (EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46(1)(B) ANNEX 1 
PARAGRAPH 3  
 
The Cabinet considered exempt Appendices A and B to the main report 
(minute 8 above). 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the content of exempt Appendices A and B to the main report be noted. 

Page 14Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2022 

 

15

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

 
 

The meeting closed at 8.55 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
CHAIRMAN 

Page 15 Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



CABINET 
23 JUNE 2022 

HOUSING OMBUDSMAN COMPLAINT HANDLING CODE – SELF-
ASSESSMENT 

 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 The Housing Ombudsman published a revised Complaint Handling Code in 

April 2022, setting out requirements for social housing landlords to meet in 
their approach to complaints handling. 

 
1.2 There is an obligation on the Council, as a social housing landlord, to self-

assess against the Code annually, to report the results of the self-assessment 
to Members and publish the results, and to demonstrate learning on 
complaints in annual reports to tenants. 

 
1.3 This report presents the Council’s self-assessment against the Code. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1  That the self-assessment, completed in accordance with the Housing 
Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code, attached at Appendix A to the report, 
be noted. 

2.2    That the self-assessment is published on the housing complaints section of the 
website, be noted.  
   

2.3    That the actions for addressing non-compliance with the Code, as set out in 
Appendix B to the report, be noted. 

 
 

3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1. Housing Ombudsman Scheme 
 
3.2. The Housing Ombudsman Scheme enables tenants and other individuals to 

have complaints about member organisations investigated by the Housing 
Ombudsman. The Scheme came into effect on 1 September 2020 and 
replaces the previous scheme, which was in operation from 1 April 2018. 

 
3.3. The Housing Ombudsman resolves disputes involving tenants and 

leaseholders of social housing landlords (housing associations and local 
authorities) and other organisations who have signed up to the Scheme 
voluntarily. It is a mandatory requirement for social housing landlords, 
including the Council, to be a member of the Scheme. 

 
3.4. The Housing Ombudsman investigates complaints regarding leasehold 

services, moving to a property, rent and service charges, occupancy rights, 
property condition (repairs and improvements), tenant behaviour, estate 
management, complaints handling and compensation.  

 
 

Page 17 Agenda Item 7



CABINET 
23 JUNE 2022 

 
3.5. Corporate Complaints Procedure 
 
3.6. The Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure sets out how complaints are 

handled by all service areas, including the Housing Service. The Council will 
try to resolve complaints informally, wherever possible, to enable early 
resolution. 

 
3.7. If a complaint is made formally, this follows a three-stage process. Stage one 

is where the complainant expresses their dissatisfaction. If there is still 
dissatisfaction after stage one, the complainant may escalate the complaint to 
stage two for a formal investigation. For non-landlord related complaints, if the 
complaint has not been resolved after completion of stage two, escalation to 
stage three is a Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman investigation. 
For landlord related complaints, there are three options available under stage 
three:  

 
1. The complainant approaches a ‘designated person’ to resolve the complaint 

at a local level (Councillor D Hammock is the Council’s appointed 
‘designated person’); or 

2. The complainant waits eight weeks to take the complaint directly to the 
Housing Ombudsman; or  

3. The complainant refers the complaint to the Housing Ombudsman if the 
‘designated person’ has confirmed they will not assist, or have agreed the 
complaint can be referred to the Housing Ombudsman, or there remains 
dissatisfaction with the complaint handling.  
 

3.8. Complaint Handling Code 
 
3.9. In July 2020, the Housing Ombudsman published a new Complaint Handling 

Code setting out good practice that will allow landlords to respond to 
complaints effectively and fairly. The key areas in the Code include: 

 
 A universal definition of a complaint 
 Providing easy access to the complaints procedure and ensuring tenants 

are aware of it, including their right to access the Ombudsman Service 
 The structure of the complaints procedure - only two stages necessary and 

clear timeframes set out for responses 
 Ensuring fairness in complaint handling with a resident focused process 
 Taking action to put things right and appropriate remedies 
 Creating a positive complaint handling culture through continuous learning 

and improvement 
 Demonstrating learning in Annual Reports 

 
3.10. Compliance with the Code forms part of the membership obligations set out in 

the Housing Ombudsman Scheme. Non-compliance with the Code could result 
in the Housing Ombudsman issuing complaint failure handling orders. 

 
 
 

Page 18Agenda Item 7



CABINET 
23 JUNE 2022 

3.11. Where there are significant concerns regarding a landlord’s compliance with 
the Code, the Housing Ombudsman may escalate these to the landlord’s 
board or equivalent, and may refer the matter to the appropriate regulatory 
body including the Regulator of Social Housing.  

 
3.12. The Housing Ombudsman may publish the fact and circumstances of the 

Council’s complaint-handling determinations, naming the Council in its Annual 
Report or elsewhere. 

 
3.13. Self-assessment 

 
3.14. The Housing Ombudsman expects landlords to carry out a self-assessment 

against the Code and take appropriate action to ensure their landlord/tenant 
related complaints handling is in line with the Code.  

 
3.15. Local authority landlords are required to report the outcome of their self-

assessment to elected Members and for these assessments to be published. 
While self-assessments are not required to be submitted to the Housing 
Ombudsman, it may request sight of the self-assessment and evidence in 
support. 

 
3.16. The Council’s first self-assessment was reported to Cabinet on 27 May 2021 

[Min No. 11 refers]. The self-assessment concluded that the Council has a 
clear and comprehensive complaints process across the organisation that 
meets most aspects of the Code. Actions were identified to ensure continuous 
learning and improvement in relation to landlord related complaints handling, 
to which most have been completed or are in progress, including: 

 
 A complaints page has been added on the housing section of the website 

including the Housing Ombudsman’s definition of a complaint which links to 
the corporate complaints page and vice versa.   

 Further tenant involvement opportunities in the landlord/tenant/Housing 
Ombudsman complaints process is currently being assessed.   

 The Corporate Complaints Procedure has aligned the definition of a 
complaint to the Housing Ombudsman’s definition. 

 A review has been carried out on the system for logging all service related 
complaints and a new complaints management system has been procured, 
to be launched in summer of 2022. 

 The Housing Service now monitors satisfaction with complaints handling. 
 Performance and learning on landlord/tenant related complaints will be 

shared with tenants in the Housing Services Annual Report and in 
newsletters. 

 
3.17. In April 2022, the Housing Ombudsman published a revised Complaint 

Handling Code. The Code has been strengthened and reinforces the 
importance of learning from complaints by being explicit that the self-
assessment should be completed as an annual exercise. Landlords will have 
until 1 October 2022 to be compliant with the Code. 

 
 

Page 19 Agenda Item 7



CABINET 
23 JUNE 2022 

3.18. The Council’s self-assessment for 2022 has been completed and is attached 
at Appendix A to the report. Where the self-assessment refers to something 
landlords ‘must’ do, this is a requirement. Where the self-assessment refers to 
something landlords ‘should’ do, landlords are able to use their discretion to 
achieve best practice in complaint handling. 

 
3.19. The self-assessment concludes that the Council is compliant with most 

aspects of the Complaint Handling Code. Where the self-assessment has 
identified any areas of non-compliance, actions have been identified to 
address these areas. The actions identified are set out in Appendix B. In 
summary, the actions include: 
 Improvement in responding to and monitoring to service requests that may 

come through the complaints process. 
 Aligning complaint response timescales with the Code.  
 Increased awareness to residents of the complaints process and the 

Housing Ombudsman.  
 Setting good practice by providing regular information on complaints that 

provides insight to the Housing Advisory Board. 
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
4.1. This report relates to the Corporate Plan’s ‘Housing’ strategic aims to ‘facilitate 

quality, choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting housing 
need in Dartford and deliver high quality services to service users’; and to 
‘create strong and self-reliant communities’. The report also relates to the 
Corporate Plan’s ‘Council Performing Strongly’ strategic aim to ‘provide high 
quality services that reflect public aspirations and demonstrate improvement’.  

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments 

 
Financial 
Implications 

None 

Legal Implications 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Housing Ombudsman Scheme is approved by 
the Secretary of State under section 51 of the 
Housing Act 1996. Local housing authorities in 
England which are registered providers of social 
housing are social landlords and must be members 
of the Scheme in connection with their housing 
activities in so far as they relate to the provision or 
management of social housing. In addition, those 
local housing authorities must be members of the 
Scheme in connection with the management of 
dwellings which they own and let on a long lease. 
 
The Council, in delivering the Corporate Complaints 
Procedure, must have regard to the Public Sector 
Equality Duty to ensure that no individual is 
discriminated against based on their sex, sexual 
orientation, marital status, pregnancy and 
maternity, gender reassignment, race, religion, 
belief, disability or age.  

Page 20Agenda Item 7



CABINET 
23 JUNE 2022 

 
Public Sector 
Equality Duty  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Crime and 
Disorder Duty 

 
The Council has explicit objectives of improving 
access to the complaints process in order to 
advance equality of opportunity. The complaint form 
and leaflets are written in plain English. Braille, 
large print, audio and interpreting services are 
available on request. The Council also welcomes 
calls via Relay UK.  
 
Complainants are asked to complete equalities 
monitoring data when they submit a complaint. This 
data is collected to ensure the Council is treating all 
members of its community fairly and making its 
Corporate Complaints Procedure accessible to all 
individuals. 
 
 
None 

Climate Impact 
Assessment 

None 

Staffing 
Implications 

None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 
 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 

Not applicable 
 

7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Complaint Handling Code Self-Assessment 
Appendix B – Complaint Handling Code Self-Assessment Action Plan 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted 
 
 
Housing Ombudsman 
Complaint Handling Code 

Date / 
File Ref 
 
April 
2022 

Report Author 
 
 
Sarah Williamson 
(01322) 343470 

Section and 
Directorate 

 
Housing 
Services/ 
Housing & 

Public 
Protection 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

N/A 

     

Page 21 Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



1 

APPENDIX A  

Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code: Self-Assessment Form 2022 
 
This self-assessment form should be completed by the complaints officer and discussed at the landlord’s governing body annually. 
 

Evidence should be included to support all statements with additional commentary as necessary. 
 
Explanations must also be provided where a mandatory ‘must’ requirement is not met to set out the rationale for the alternative approach 
adopted and why this delivers a better outcome. 
 
Section 1 – Definition of a complaint 
Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 
Code  
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

1.2 A complaint must be defined as: 
 
‘an expression of dissatisfaction, however made, about the 
standard of service, actions or lack of action by the 
organisation, its own staff, or those acting on its behalf, 
affecting an individual resident or group of residents.  

Yes Dartford Borough Council’s (“the Council’s”) Corporate 
Complaints Procedure Code of Practice for Staff (“the Complaints 
Procedure”) uses the Housing Ombudsman’s definition of a 
complaint – see 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints/complain  

1.3 The resident does not have to use the word ‘complaint’ for it 
to be treated as such. A complaint that is submitted via a 
third party or representative must still be handled in line 
with the landlord’s complaints policy. 

Yes The Complaints Procedure explains what an “expression of 
dissatisfaction” means and notes the importance to appreciate 
that the complainant does not have to use the word “complaint” 
when expressing dissatisfaction. The procedure also explains that 
a third party i.e. someone acting on behalf of a person or 
organisation receiving or seeking to receive a service from the 
Council (e.g. Councillor, MP, next of kin), may use the complaints 
procedure. The procedure provides information on organisations 
that may assist a person in making a complaint. 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 7

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints/complain


2 

1.6 … if further enquiries are needed to resolve the matter, or if 
the resident requests it, the issue must be logged as a 
complaint. 

Yes The Complaints Procedure explains that a first time request for a 
service or for information that is properly for the Council to give 
should not be seen as a complaint. However, a repeated request 
for the same service or information is a clear indication that the 
Council may not have performed according to its service 
standards. A repeated request may well, therefore, take the form 
of a complaint. 

1.7 A landlord must accept a complaint unless there is a valid 
reason not to do so. 

Yes All complaints will be accepted unless the matter being raised is 
not covered under the Council’s Complaints Procedure (see 1.8 
below). 

1.8 A complaints policy must clearly set out the circumstances in 
which a matter will not be considered, and these 
circumstances should be fair and reasonable to residents. 

Yes The Complaints Procedure includes circumstances in which a 
matter will not be considered under the complaints process: 
 
 requests for a service, for instance initial reporting of a faulty 

street light; 
 complaints about court proceedings; 
 complaints about personnel matters concerning employees of 

the Council; 
 complaints about something which affects all or most of the 

inhabitants of the Borough, for instance the amount of 
Council Tax being levied; 

 complaints about matters for which there is a right of appeal 
to a Tribunal or to a Government Minister, for instance, refusal 
of planning permission; 

 complaints for which there is a legal remedy, for instance, an 
injury claim; 

 complaints already being dealt with by the Local Government/ 
Housing Ombudsman; 

 complaints from employees of the Council (except as external 
users of services); 

 matters which have arisen more than three months before the 
complaint is made, unless there are very special 
circumstances; 

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 7



3 

 matters connected with ‘internal malpractice’ and the 
employment protection for individuals disclosing certain 
information in relation to the workplace (refer to the 
Whistleblowing Policy); 

 matters connected with the level of Housing Benefit/Council 
Tax Benefit awarded; 

 policy issues, e.g., the allocation of resources or prioritisation 
of works; 

 systematic failure of the Council to discharge a function for 
which it is responsible. 

 
Information is also provided on the Council’s website on the 
most commonly raised complaints that are not within the remit 
of the Complaints Procedure – see 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints/commonly-raised-
complaints-not-within-remit-procedure  

1.9 If a landlord decides not to accept a complaint, a detailed 
explanation must be provided to the resident setting out the 
reasons why the matter is not suitable for the complaints 
process and the right to take that decision to the 
Ombudsman. 

Yes Where a request to use the complaints process is received and 
the matter is not covered under the Complaints Procedure (as 
explained in 1.8), the Council will write to the resident explaining 
why the matter is not suitable for the complaints process and the 
right to take that decision to the Ombudsman.  

 
Best practice ‘should’ requirements 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

1.4 Landlords should recognise the difference between a 
service request, where a resident may be unhappy with a 
situation that they wish to have rectified, and a complaint 
about the service they have/have not received. 

Yes The Corporate Complaints Procedure includes advice as to what 
constitutes a complaint, emphasising the importance of 
recognising the difference between a formal complaint and a 
service request. The Procedure explains that a first time request 
for a service or for information that is properly for the Council to 
give should not be seen as a complaint. Complaints about the 
Council can be broadly categorised as follows: 
 

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 7

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints/commonly-raised-complaints-not-within-remit-procedure
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints/commonly-raised-complaints-not-within-remit-procedure


4 

a) failure to provide a service at the level or standard expected 
of the Council; 

b) the unhelpful attitude of an employee of the Council; 
c) neglect or delay in answering a query or responding to a 

request for service; 
d) failure to follow the Council's agreed policies, rules or 

procedures; 
e) failure to take proper account of relevant matters in coming 

to a decision (NB: this may not be a complaint but a request 
for reconsideration or an appeal of a decision); 

f) failure to tell people of their rights; 
g) malice, bias or discrimination, victimisation and harassment. 
 
Where service requests are received by the Housing Service (e.g. 
a request for a repair) this is recorded on the relevant 
departmental case management system. However, if a service 
request is received via the complaints process, this is not 
currently recorded on the central complaints management 
system and monitored. The Council is in the process of 
procuring a new complaints management system.  
ACTION: As part of the development process of the new 
complaints management system, additional functionality 
will look to be added that will enable any service requests 
received via the complaints process to automatically 
generate a letter to inform the resident that the service 
request has been passed onto the relevant service area. By 
doing so will enable the monitoring of the level of service 
requests received via the complaints process.  

1.5 Survey feedback may not necessarily need to be treated as a 
complaint, though, where possible, the person completing 
the survey should be made aware of how they can pursue 
their dissatisfaction as a complaint if they wish to. 

No The Housing Service uses survey feedback to inform on resident 
satisfaction with the services provided. However, information is 
not currently included in the survey feedback forms on how 
residents can make a complaint if they are dissatisfied. ACTION: 
The Housing Service will include an informative in all survey 

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 7



5 

feedback forms to explain how residents can make a 
complaint if they are dissatisfied with the service received.   

 
Section 2 – Accessibility and awareness 
Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

2.1 Landlords must make it easy for residents to complain by 
providing different channels through which residents can 
make a complaint such as in person, over the telephone, in 
writing, by email and digitally. While the Ombudsman 
recognises that it may not be feasible for a landlord to use 
all of the potential channels, there must be more than one 
route of access into the complaints system. 

Yes Complaints can be made using a range of options including in 
person, by phone (including Relay UK), by email/internet, on 
audiotape, in writing, in Braille and in languages other than 
English.    

2.3 Landlords must make their complaint policy available in a 
clear and accessible format for all residents. This will detail 
the number of stages involved, what will happen at each 
stage and the timeframes for responding. 

Yes The Complaints Procedure is available in a clear and accessible 
format for all residents on the Council’s website at 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints. This includes the 
following information: 
 

 Formal complaints procedure and form 
 Three stages of our complaints procedure 
 Help and advice on complaints procedure 
 Stage 2 Review of complaints (relating to data protection, 

freedom of information, environmental information and re-
use of information) 

 Fluency Duty - A complaint that an employee in a customer-
facing role has insufficient proficiency in spoken English for 
the performance of their role 

 Complaints relating to the Council's landlord functions 
 Most commonly raised complaints that are not within the 

remit of our Complaints Procedure 

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 7

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints


6 

 Policy on Unreasonably Persistent and/or Vexatious 
Complainants 

 Complaints Privacy Notice 
2.4 Landlord websites, if they exist, must include information on 

how to raise a complaint. The complaints policy and process 
must be easy to find on the website. 

Yes As explained in 2.3 above – the Complaints Procedure is 
available in a clear and accessible format for all residents on the 
Council’s website on a corporate complaints page at 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints.  
 
In addition, the Housing Service has a specific complaints page 
on the website regarding landlord related complaints at 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/services/housing-complaints. This 
page links to the corporate complaints page and vice versa. The 
page includes the Housing Ombudsman’s definition of a 
complaint, the Complaint Handling Code Self-Assessment, a link 
to the Ombudsman’s website, and promotion of the 
Government’s ‘Make Things Right Campaign’. 

2.5 Landlords must comply with the Equality Act 2010 and may 
need to adapt normal policies, procedures, or processes to 
accommodate an individual’s needs. 
Landlords must satisfy themselves that their policy sets out 
how they will respond to reasonable adjustments requests in 
line with the Equality Act and that complaints handlers have 
had appropriate training to deal with such requests. 

Yes The Council has a corporate Equality & Diversity Document 
Framework, which sets out how it will comply with the Public 
Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010. The 
Complaints Procedure has been subject to a Customer Access 
Review to assess the equality impact the procedure will have on 
the protected characteristic groups.   
 
The complaints process explains how customers can receive 
information in alternative formats and access interpreter services 
to ensure there is equality of opportunity in using the service.  

2.6 Landlords must publicise the complaints policy and process, 
the Complaint Handling Code and the Housing Ombudsman 
Scheme in leaflets, posters, newsletters, online and as part of 
regular correspondence with residents. 

Yes Customers are advised about the complaints process through 
various channels, including on the website, via a leaflet at points 
of access and notice boards and available at Customer Services 
and other Council service outlets, in correspondence, and in 
housing policies etc. The Complaint Handling Code and the 
Housing Ombudsman service is publicised on the website. 
ACTION: Information will be included as a standing article 

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 7

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/services/housing-complaints
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/equality-diversity/equality-diversity-information
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/equality-diversity/equality-diversity-information
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/downloads/download/770/corporate-complaints-procedure---customer-access-review
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/downloads/download/770/corporate-complaints-procedure---customer-access-review


7 

in the tenant newsletter (‘The Link’) about the Complaints 
Procedure, the Complaint Handling Code and the Housing 
Ombudsman Scheme. 

2.7 Landlords must provide residents with contact information 
for the Ombudsman as part of its regular correspondence 
with residents. 

No Ombudsman contact information is not routinely included in 
regular correspondence sent by the Housing Service. ACTION: 
Contact information for the Ombudsman will be included in 
regular Housing Service correspondence letter templates.  

2.8 Landlords must provide early advice to residents regarding 
their right to access the Housing Ombudsman Service 
throughout their complaint, not only when the landlord’s 
complaints process is exhausted. 

Yes The Council’s website includes information on complaints 
relating to the Council’s landlord functions and the right to 
access the Housing Ombudsman Service, not only when the 
Council’s complaints process has been exhausted: 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints/complaints-relating-
councils-landlord-functions  
 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/services/housing-complaints  

 
Best practice ‘should’ requirements 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

2.2 Where a landlord has set up channels to communicate with 
its residents via social media, then it should expect to 
receive complaints via those channels. Policies should 
contain details of the steps that will be taken when a 
complaint is received via social media and how 
confidentiality and privacy will be maintained. 

No The Complaints Procedure does not currently permit that formal 
complaints will be accepted through social media channels as 
these platforms are not continuously monitored, especially 
outside normal working hours, although the Council has on 
occasions identified and resolved issues raised through these 
platforms.  
  

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 7

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints/complaints-relating-councils-landlord-functions
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints/complaints-relating-councils-landlord-functions
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/services/housing-complaints


8 

Section 3 – Complaint handling personnel 
Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

3.1 Landlords must have a person or team assigned to take 
responsibility for complaint handling to ensure complaints 
receive the necessary attention, and that these are reported 
to the governing body. This Code will refer to that person or 
team as the “complaints officer”. 

Yes The Head of Legal Services is the Council’s Corporate Complaints 
Officer and has overall responsibility for the Complaints 
Procedure and its administration and maintenance. The 
Corporate Complaints Officer remains independent of any 
decisions, but may give guidance and advice on procedure. 
 

Directors are responsible for the effective operation of the 
Complaints Procedure within their areas of responsibility. Each 
Director will nominate a Senior Officer as a Directorate/ 
Departmental Complaints Officer (DCO), responsible for 
ensuring that complaints are dealt with in accordance with the 
Complaints Procedure.  
 

Complaints are allocated to officers, as follows: 
 

 Stage 1 complaints – the complaint is allocated to the 
relevant service Manager and copied to the relevant DCO and 
Corporate Complaints Officer.  

 Stage 2 complaints – the Corporate Complaints Officer 
allocates the complaint to the relevant Director and this is 
copied to the relevant DCO. The relevant Director will 
identify/nominate an officer independent of the stage one 
decision to investigate the complaint.  

 Stage 3 complaints: 
 For non-landlord related complaints, Stage 3 of the 

complaints process is a Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman Investigation.  

 For housing landlord related complaints, the complainant 
has the following three options: 

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 7



9 

1) To approach a ‘designated person’; or 
2) Wait eight weeks to take the complaint directly to the 

Housing Ombudsman; or  
3) Refer to the Housing Ombudsman within the eight 

week period if the ‘designated person’ has confirmed 
they will not assist or have agreed to the referral to the 
Housing Ombudsman or the customer remains 
dissatisfied after contacting the ‘designated person’. 

3.2 …the complaint handler appointed must have appropriate 
complaint handling skills and no conflicts of interest. 

Yes Training of new front line staff, service managers and 
Departmental Complaints Officers is designed to help staff in 
developing their skills in: 
 

 defining and analysing complaints; 
 planning investigations and making the best use of sources 

of information; 
 evaluating information and making sound decisions; 
 communicating those decisions effectively; 
 resolving and learning from complaints; 
 overcoming common problems. 
 

Guidance notes and training on best practice in complaints 
handling will be offered to all staff involved in dealing with 
complaints. Complaints handling will be included as a core 
module in the Customer Services training programme. 
 

Refresher courses will be run by the Corporate Complaints 
Officer. For example, in January 2021, the LGO provided a Zoom 
on-line workshop on accepting, investigating and deciding 
complaints. Forty one members of staff attended.  
 

In terms of any conflict of interest, the Complaints Procedure is 
clear that officers, partners, Councillors and contractors must 
distance themselves from the investigation or involvement in 
any complaint in which they are directly or indirectly implicated.  

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 7



10 

Best practice ‘should’ requirements 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

3.3 Complaint handlers should: 
 be able to act sensitively and fairly 
 be trained to handle complaints and deal with 

distressed and upset residents 
 have access to staff at all levels to facilitate a quick 

resolution of complaints 
 have the authority and autonomy to act to resolve 

disputes quickly and fairly  

Yes Training, supervision, resident feedback, monitoring and a 
robust Complaints Procedure assists complaint handlers to be 
competent, empathetic and efficient.   
 

The Complaint Procedure is clear about what the complainant 
can expect from the complaint handler, including to act in a 
non-defensive manner; be helpful, be polite and courteous; be 
honest; and be sensitive. The vulnerability or dependency of the 
complainant is also considered. If they are vulnerable or 
dependent, it is very important to ensure that they have 
appropriate support.  
 

Officers assigned to complaints have access to staff at all levels 
and autonomy to resolve complaints. The Corporate Complaints 
Officer is also available to provide guidance and advice on 
procedure and best practice. 

 
Section 4 – Complaint handling principles 
Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

4.1 Any decision to try and resolve a concern must be taken in 
agreement with the resident and a landlord’s audit 
trail/records should be able to demonstrate this. 
Landlords must ensure that efforts to resolve a resident’s 
concerns do not obstruct access to the complaints 
procedure or result in any unreasonable delay. It is not 
appropriate to have extra named stages (such as ‘stage 0’ or 
‘pre-complaint stage’) as this causes unnecessary confusion 

No The Council will try to resolve complaints informally wherever 
possible. Circumstances may warrant an informal complaint to 
proceed to Stage 1 of the formal complaints process. Where a 
review of a Stage 1 decision is requested, reconsideration of the 
decision is carried out at Stage 2 of the complaints process. 
 
The Complaints Procedure states that the complaint must be 
acknowledged within 7 working days of receipt by the Council. 
This is a corporate timescale applied across all service areas.  

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 7



11 

for residents. When a complaint is made, it must be 
acknowledged and logged at stage one of the complaints 
procedure within five days of receipt. 

If a complaint is received via Customer Services by email, this is 
forwarded to the relevant department and an acknowledgement 
reply is sent by Customer Services to the complainant advising 
to whom the email has been forwarded. Currently, Customer 
Services acknowledge the complaint within 48 hours. 
 
The Council is in the process of procuring a new complaints 
management system. The new system will enable an 
acknowledgement to be automatically sent on the same day the 
complaint is allocated. This will, in the future, ensure that 
acknowledgements are sent within the Ombudsman’s 
timescales.  

4.2 Within the complaint acknowledgement, landlords must set 
out their understanding of the complaint and the outcomes 
the resident is seeking. If any aspect of the complaint is 
unclear, the resident must be asked for clarification and the 
full definition agreed between both parties. 

Yes The acknowledgement will name the service Manager 
responsible for investigating the complaint, and the target date 
for response. The complainant can expect their complaint to be 
set out and their desired outcome to be clearly defined. If the 
basis of the complaint is not evident or clear enough, the service 
Manager will contact the complainant to clarify the focus of their 
complaint and then decide how the complaint should be taken 
forward. Options may include: 
  
 answering a question; 
 providing further information; 
 clarifying a misunderstanding; 
 acknowledging and/or rectifying an error. 

4.6 A complaint investigation must be conducted in an impartial 
manner. 

Yes Complaint investigations objectively determine whether the facts 
of the case have been established. No complaint is investigated 
or responded to by a member of staff about whom the 
complaint has been made, or who has a conflict of interest in the 
matter. 

4.7 The complaint handler must: 
 deal with complaints on their merits 
 act independently and have an open mind 

Yes The Complaint Procedure is clear about what the complainant 
can expect from the complaint handler, including: 
 

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 7



12 

 take measures to address any actual or perceived 
conflict of interest 

 consider all information and evidence carefully 
 keep the complaint as confidential as far as possible, 

with information only disclosed if necessary to 
properly investigate the matter 

 to ensure that no complaint is investigated or responded to 
by a member of staff about whom the complaint has been 
made, or who has a conflict of interest in the matter. Officers, 
partners, Councillors and contractors must distance 
themselves from the investigation of or involvement in any 
complaint in which they are directly or indirectly implicated; 

 objectively determine, based on the information and 
evidence provided, whether the facts of the case have been 
determined; 

 any request for the identity of the complainant to remain 
confidential will be respected as far as possible. 

4.11 Landlords must adhere to any reasonable 
arrangements agreed with residents in terms of 
frequency and method of communication 

Yes The Complaints Procedure is mindful of any special needs of the 
complainant and that it is important to be aware of this and to 
provide appropriate support that may assist them to make their 
complaint. Some of these needs are considered below: 
 
 Visual impairment - consider if the provision of a large print 

leaflet or audiotape version of the complaints process would 
be appropriate; 

 Consider if someone is required to assist the complainant 
write his/her complaint - always ask the complainant if they 
require assistance; 

 Hearing impairment - consider if the use of a British Sign 
Language interpreter would assist the complainant; 

 English as a second language - the complainant should be 
offered the assistance of a translator, family member or friend 
to help them make their complaint; 

 House bound complainants - some house bound 
complainants may require a home visit; 

 Complainants may wish to enlist the help of a friend, relative, 
Councillor, MP, professional person, e.g. doctor or priest, or 
an advocacy service. 

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 7



13 

4.12 The resident, and if applicable any staff member who is the 
subject of the complaint, must also be given a fair chance to: 

 set out their position 
 comment on any adverse findings before a final 

decision is made 

Yes The Complaints Procedure states that the complainant is given 
the opportunity to have their concerns heard. With a view to 
resolving complaints quickly and at the earliest possible stage of 
the Complaints Procedure, the service Manager may at the 
request of the complainant, reconsider their decision against any 
additional information provided by the complainant. Stage 1 
response times will apply. 

4.13 A landlord must include in its complaints policy its 
timescales for a resident to request escalation of a 
complaint 

Yes The Complaints Procedure states that other than in exceptional 
circumstances, which will include complaints referred to the 
Council by the Ombudsman, and instances where the service 
Department has been in prolonged discussions with the 
complainant, the Council will not investigate complaints more 
than three months after the cause of complaint has arisen.  
 
For housing landlord related complaints at Stage 3 of the 
complaints process, the Complaints Procedure and decision 
letter advises the resident may approach a ‘designated person’; 
wait eight weeks to take the complaint directly to the 
Ombudsman; or approach the ombudsman within eight weeks if 
the ‘designated person’ has confirmed they will not assist or 
refer to the Ombudsman. 

4.14 A landlord must not unreasonably refuse to escalate a 
complaint through all stages of the complaints procedure 
and must have clear and valid reasons for taking that course 
of action. Reasons for declining to escalate a complaint 
must be clearly set out in a landlord’s complaints policy and 
must be the same as the reasons for not accepting a 
complaint. 

Yes As explained in 1.8, the Complaints Procedure sets out the 
circumstances in which a matter will not be considered under 
the complaints process.  Normally, the complainant will be given 
the name and contact details of the Corporate Complaints 
Officer, should they wish to pursue their complaint under Stage 
2 of the complaints procedure. However, in certain 
circumstances (notably, where the Council has done as much as 
can be done to try to resolve the complaint, or the complainant’s 
conduct causes concern (unreasonably persistent and/or 
vexatious complaints) or the complaint concerns a Council 
decision and/or action which is in accordance with legislation 
and/or Council policy and procedure or an explanation of the 

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 7



14 

reasons for dissatisfaction with the handling of the Stage 1 
complaint has not been provided), the relevant Director may 
exercise their discretion not to investigate the complaint beyond 
Stage 1. Where this discretion is exercised, the complainant must 
be provided with an explanation and of their right to complain 
to the Housing Ombudsman. 

4.15 A full record must be kept of the complaint, any review and 
the outcomes at each stage. This must include the original 
complaint and the date received, all correspondence with 
the resident, correspondence with other parties and any 
reports or surveys prepared. 

Yes All formal complaints and correspondence are logged on a 
central corporate complaints management system. This ensures 
that complaints records are fully maintained and preserved. The 
Council is currently procuring a new system for logging 
complaints with the aim to provide improved functionality so 
that efficiency is increased along with the ability to interrogate 
data more effectively and easily.   

4.18 Landlords must have policies and procedures in place for 
managing unacceptable behaviour from residents and/or 
their representatives when pursuing a complaint.  

Yes The Council has a Policy on Unreasonably Persistent and/or 
Vexatious Complainant’s Behaviour.  

 
Best practice ‘should’ requirements 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

4.3 Landlords should manage residents’ expectations from the 
outset, being clear where a desired outcome is 
unreasonable or unrealistic 

Yes The Complaints Procedure states that complainants should 
expect to be told what they can reasonably expect the 
complaints officer to do, what can or cannot be done, and the 
time limits.  

4.4 A complaint should be resolved at the earliest possible 
opportunity, having assessed what evidence is needed to 
fully consider the issues, what outcome would resolve the 
matter for the resident and whether there are any urgent 
actions required 

Yes The Complaints Procedure states that informal resolution and 
apology should be immediate where possible. Customers most 
often want an explanation, an apology and reassurance that the 
same thing will not happen to others. 

4.5 Landlords should give residents the opportunity to have a 
representative deal with their complaint on their behalf, and 

Yes As explained in 1.3, the Complaints Procedure states that 
someone acting on behalf of a person or organisation receiving 
or seeking to receive a service from the Council (e.g. Councillor, 

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 7

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/downloads/download/654/policy-for-vexatious-and-persistent-complainants-behaviour-february-2020
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/downloads/download/654/policy-for-vexatious-and-persistent-complainants-behaviour-february-2020


15 

to be represented or accompanied at any meeting with the 
landlord where this is reasonable.  

MP, next of kin), may use the complaints procedure. The 
procedure provides information on organisations that may assist 
a person in making a complaint. 

4.8 Where a key issue of a complaint relates to the parties’ legal 
obligations landlords should clearly set out their 
understanding of the obligations of both parties. 

Yes The complaints response will detail the Council’s legal 
obligations and the obligations of the resident, as well as to 
recommend the resident seeks their own legal advice.  

4.9 Communication with the resident should not generally 
identify individual members of staff or contractors. 

Yes The Complaints Procedure states that where there is a complaint 
about a Council employee, the employee will not be named 
when complaints are recorded but will indicate whether 
complaints are held to have any foundation. This information will 
be used to assess whether staff require further customer care 
training or re-training. 

4.10 Landlords should keep residents regularly updated about 
the progress of the investigation.  

Yes The Complaints Procedure minimum standards for handling 
complaints include keeping complainants informed of progress 
in dealing with their complaint, and if it cannot be resolved 
within the agreed timescales, the likely timescales for response.  

4.16 Landlords should seek feedback from residents in relation to 
the landlord’s complaint handling as part of the drive to 
encourage a positive complaint and learning culture. 

Yes In October 2021, the Housing Service set up a process for 
measuring satisfaction with complaint handling using a 
transactional survey approach. Upon closure of a complaint, a 
satisfaction survey is sent to the complainant and followed-up 
twice over a period of four weeks before a non-return is 
recorded.   
 
In addition to the above method of undertaking transactional 
satisfaction surveys, the Regulator of Social Housing is expected 
to introduce a set of tenant satisfaction measures for all 
landlords in 2023, as set out in the Government’s Charter for 
Social Housing Residents - Social Housing White Paper. This will 
include a measure for satisfaction with complaints handling via a 
perception survey method.    

4.17 Landlords should recognise the impact that being 
complained about can have on future service delivery. 

Yes The Council is in the process of procuring a new complaints 
management system. The new system will have improved 

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 7



16 

Landlords should ensure that staff are supported and 
engaged in the complaints process, including the learning 
that can be gained 

functionality on the categorisation of complaints and outcomes. 
This will enable trends and patterns of complaints to be 
monitored, which in turn, will contribute towards improved staff 
training and learning. 

4.19 Any restrictions placed on a resident’s contact due to 
unacceptable behaviour should be appropriate to their 
needs and should demonstrate regard for the provisions of 
the Equality Act 2010. 

Yes The Council’s Policy on Unreasonably Persistent and/or 
Vexatious Complainant’s Behaviour sets out that the Council 
must be mindful that it has responsibilities under equality and 
diversity legislation concerning the way it provides its services. 
Of equal importance, is the Employee Code of Conduct which 
requires staff to maintain high standards when dealing with 
customers. However, the need to be patient or make 
adjustments when providing our services does not extend to 
having to deal with unacceptable behaviour from customers. The 
Council must also be fair to all customers by prioritising our 
resources effectively. The time spent with each customer should 
be appropriate and proportionate. 
 
The Council is committed to providing services that are 
accessible to the broadest range of customers. This commitment 
also encompasses legal obligations under the Equality Act 2010. 
If a customer is having difficulty accessing services for any 
reason, the Council will adjust the way it provides its services 
where it is reasonable to do so. Where a customer is behaving in 
a difficult, persistent or unacceptable manner, the Council must 
consider whether this may be caused by any personal difficulties 
or characteristics they have, which may be making services more 
difficult to access or use.  

 
 
 
 

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 7

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/downloads/download/654/policy-for-vexatious-and-persistent-complainants-behaviour-february-2020
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/downloads/download/654/policy-for-vexatious-and-persistent-complainants-behaviour-february-2020
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/downloads/download/644/dartford-borough-council---conduct-for-employees


17 

Section 5 – Complaint stages 
Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 
Stage 1 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

5.1 Landlords must respond to the complaint within 10 
working days of the complaint being logged. Exceptionally, 
landlords may provide an explanation to the resident 
containing a clear timeframe for when the response will be 
received. This should not exceed a further 10 days without 
good reason. 

No The Council’s corporate response timescale for stage 1 
complaints is 15 working days and does not currently align with 
the Code timescales ACTION: The Corporate Complaints 
Procedure will be amended to align with the Code timescales 
of 10 working days for Stage 1 responses to Housing 
Services/landlord complaints. 

5.5 A complaint response must be sent to the resident when 
the answer to the complaint is known, not when the 
outstanding actions required to address the issue, are 
completed. 
Outstanding actions must still be tracked and actioned 
expeditiously with regular updates provided to the resident. 

Yes The Complaints Procedure states that informal resolution and 
apology should be immediate where possible. If a complaint is 
upheld or partially upheld, information is given the actions that 
will be taken to address the issue.  

5.6 Landlords must address all points raised in the complaint 
and provide clear reasons for any decisions, referencing the 
relevant policy, law and good practice where appropriate. 

Yes The Stage 1 decision letter template instructs the complaints 
officer to detail reasons for the decision by setting out the facts 
and the conclusions regarding all points raised. 

5.8 Landlords must confirm the following in writing to the 
resident at the completion of stage one in clear, plain 
language: 

 the complaint stage 
 the decision on the complaint 
 the reasons for any decisions made 
 the details of any remedy offered to put things right 
 details of any outstanding actions 
 details of how to escalate the matter to stage two if 

the resident is not satisfied with the answer 

Yes The Stage 1 decision letter template includes this required 
information. 

 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 7



18 

Best practice ‘should’ requirements 
Stage 2 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

5.9 If all or part of the complaint is not resolved to the 
resident’s satisfaction at stage one it must be progressed to 
stage two of the landlord’s procedure, unless an exclusion 
ground now applies. In instances where a landlord declines 
to escalate a complaint it must clearly communicate in 
writing its reasons for not escalating as well as the resident’s 
right to approach the Ombudsman about its decision. 

Yes As explained in 1.8, the Complaints Procedure sets out the 
circumstances in which a matter will not be considered under 
the complaints process.   
 
As explained in 4.14, normally, the complainant will be given the 
name and contact details of the Corporate Complaints Officer, 
should they wish to pursue their complaint under Stage 2 of the 
Complaints Procedure. However, in certain circumstances 
(notably, where the Council has done as much as can be done to 
try to resolve the complaint, or the complainant’s conduct 
causes concern (unreasonably persistent and/or vexatious 
complaints) or the complaint concerns a Council decision and/or 
action which is in accordance with legislation and/or Council 
policy and procedure or an explanation of the reasons for 
dissatisfaction with the handling of the Stage 1 complaint has 
not been provided), the relevant Director may exercise their 
discretion not to investigate the complaint beyond Stage 1. 
Where this discretion is exercised, the complainant must be 
provided with an explanation and of their right to complain to 
the Housing Ombudsman. 

5.10 On receipt of the escalation request, landlords must set out 
their understanding of issues outstanding and the outcomes 
the resident is seeking. If any aspect of the complaint is 
unclear, the resident must be asked for clarification and the 
full definition agreed between both parties. 

Yes On escalation to Stage 2 of the complaints process, this is an 
opportunity to consider a case completely afresh, through a 
formal investigation. The Investigating Officer will agree with the 
complainant, a detailed, written statement of the complaint 
before embarking on a formal investigation.  

5.11 Landlords must only escalate a complaint to stage two once 
it has completed stage one and at the request of the 
resident. 

Yes Complaints are only escalated to Stage 2 once Stage 1 has been 
completed and at the request of the resident. 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 7



19 

5.12 The person considering the complaint at stage two, must 
not be the same person that considered the complaint at 
stage one. 

Yes The relevant Director will identify/nominate an investigating 
officer independent of the Stage 1. This person will normally be 
a representative from management other than the line manager 
e.g. the head of service or the relevant Director may choose to 
investigate personally. 
 
An Investigating Officer should be impartial and able to apply 
fairness and objectivity. Ideally, the Investigating Officer should 
have attended training on the complaints procedure and on 
carrying out investigations. 

5.13 Landlords must respond to the stage two complaint within 
20 working days of the complaint being escalated. 
Exceptionally, landlords may provide an explanation to the 
resident containing a clear timeframe for when the response 
will be received. This should not exceed a further 10 days 
without good reason. 

No The Council’s corporate response timescale for stage 2 
complaints is 21 working days and does not currently align with 
the Code timescales. ACTION: The Corporate Complaints 
Procedure will be amended to align with the Code timescales 
of 20 working days for Stage 2 responses to complaints 
across all service areas. 

5.16 Landlords must confirm the following in writing to the 
resident at the completion of stage two in clear, plain 
language: 

 the complaint stage 
 the complaint definition 
 the decision on the complaint 
 the reasons for any decisions made 
 the details of any remedy offered to put things right 
 details of any outstanding actions 

and 
 if the landlord has a third stage, details of how to 

escalate the matter to stage three  
 if this was the final stage, details of how to escalate 

the matter to the Housing Ombudsman Service if the 
resident remains dissatisfied. 

Yes The stage 2 decision letter template includes this required 
information. 

 
 

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 7



20 

Stage 3 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

5.17 Two stage landlord complaint procedures are ideal. This 
ensures that the complaint process is not unduly long. If 
landlords strongly believe a third stage is necessary, they 
must set out their reasons for this as part of their self-
assessment. A process with more than three stages is not 
acceptable under any circumstances. 

N/A Stage 3 of the Complaints Procedure is where the complaint is 
investigated by the Housing Ombudsman (as explained in 3.1).  
 

5.20 Landlords must confirm the following in writing to the 
resident at the completion of stage three in clear, plain 
language: 

 the complaint stage 
 the complaint definition 
 the decision on the complaint 
 the reasons for any decisions made 
 the details of any remedy offered to put things right 
 details of any outstanding actions 
 details of how to escalate the matter to the Housing 

Ombudsman Service if the resident remains 
dissatisfied 

N/A As 5.17 above – Stage 3 of the Complaints Procedure is where 
the complaint is investigated by the Housing Ombudsman (as 
explained in 3.1).  
 

 
Best practice ‘should’ requirements 
Stage 1 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

5.2 If an extension beyond 20 working days is required to 
enable the landlord to respond to the complaint fully, this 
should be agreed by both parties. 

Yes Every complaint is acknowledged and the complainant is 
informed of the officer responsible for investigating the 
complaint and the target date for the response. If it is not 
possible to provide the complainant with a full response within 
the target timeframe, the complainant is kept informed of this.  

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 7



21 

5.3 Where agreement over an extension period cannot be 
reached, landlords should provide the Housing 
Ombudsman’s contact details so the resident can challenge 
the landlord’s plan for responding and/or the proposed 
timeliness of a landlord’s response. 

Yes On rare occasions where agreement over an extension period 
has not been reached, the Council will provide the 
Ombudsman’s contact details so the resident can challenge the 
Council’s plan for responding and/or the proposed timeliness of 
the response. 

5.4 Where the problem is a recurring issue, the landlord should 
consider any older reports as part of the background to the 
complaint if this will help to resolve the issue for the 
resident. 

Yes Background information, including older reports, are considered 
during the complaint investigation. 

5.7 Where residents raise additional complaints during the 
investigation, these should be incorporated into the stage 
one response if they are relevant and the stage one 
response has not been issued. Where the stage one 
response has been issued, or it would unreasonably delay 
the response, the complaint should be logged as a new 
complaint. 

Yes Any additional complaints raised during a complaint 
investigation will be incorporated into the complaint. 

 
Best practice ‘should’ requirements 
Stage 2 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

5.14 If an extension beyond 10 working days is required to 
enable the landlord to respond to the complaint fully, this 
should be agreed by both parties. 

Yes Every complaint is acknowledged and the complainant is 
informed of the officer responsible for investigating the 
complaint and the target date for the response. If it is not 
possible to provide the complainant with a full response within 
the target timeframe, the complainant is kept informed of this.  

5.15 Where agreement over an extension period cannot be 
reached, landlords should provide the Housing 
Ombudsman’s contact details so the resident can challenge 
the landlord’s plan for responding and/or the proposed 
timeliness of a landlord’s response 

Yes On rare occasions where agreement over an extension period 
has not been reached, the Council will provide the 
Ombudsman’s contact details so the resident can challenge the 
Council’s plan for responding and/or the proposed timeliness of 
the response. 

 

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 7



22 

Best practice ‘should’ requirements 
Stage 3 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

5.18 Complaints should only go to a third stage if the resident 
has actively requested a third stage review of their 
complaint. Where a third stage is in place and has been 
requested, landlords must respond to the stage three 
complaint within 20 working days of the complaint being 
escalated. Additional time will only be justified if related to 
convening a panel. An explanation and a date for when the 
stage three response will be received should be provided to 
the resident. 

N/A As explained in 5.17 – Stage 3 of the Complaints Procedure is 
where the complaint is investigated by the Housing 
Ombudsman. 

5.19 Where agreement over an extension period cannot be 
reached, landlords should provide the Housing 
Ombudsman’s contact details so the resident can challenge 
the landlord’s plan for responding and/or the proposed 
timeliness of a landlord’s response. 

N/A As explained in 5.17 – Stage 3 of the Complaints Procedure is 
where the complaint is investigated by the Housing 
Ombudsman. 

 
Section 6 – Putting things right 
Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 
 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

6.1 Effective dispute resolution requires a process designed to 
resolve complaints. Where something has gone wrong a 
landlord must acknowledge this and set out the actions it 
has already taken, or intends to take, to put things right.  

Yes Remedies for complainants under the Complaints Procedure will 
normally take the form of putting things right and an apology. 
The options for redress are any, or a combination, of: 
  

 an apology where appropriate; 
 an explanation of the events or policy concerned; 
 agreeing to change a decision or action; 

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 7



23 

 agreeing to put right a mistake or the consequences of a 
mistake; 

 a review of a policy or project, or its implementation, to take 
into account the complaint; 

 improving communication to staff or the public to avoid the 
same grounds for complaint as previously; 

 improving staff training to eliminate the root cause of the 
complaint. 

6.2 Any remedy offered must reflect the extent of any service 
failures and the level of detriment caused to the resident as 
a result. A landlord must carefully manage the expectations 
of residents and not promise anything that cannot be 
delivered or would cause unfairness to other residents. 

Yes The Complaints Procedure recommends that complaint handlers 
refer to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
Guidance on Remedies. Key questions in considering an 
appropriate remedy include: 
  
 What outcome does the complainant want to achieve by 

complaining? 
 What has gone wrong? 
 What is the personal injustice? 
 Can action be taken to put the person affected back in the 

position they would have been in if nothing had gone wrong? 
 Is there an actual quantifiable financial loss, such as costs 

incurred or payments not received? 
 On what basis can loss of non-monetary benefit be 

calculated? 
 How severe was any other impact in terms of distress, harm 

or risk? 
 Did the actions or inactions of the complainant or a third 

party contribute to or lessen the injustice? 
 Is there a more appropriate form of payment than monetary? 
 Overall, is the remedy proportionate, appropriate and 

reasonable? 
6.5 The remedy offer must clearly set out what will happen and 

by when, in agreement with the resident where appropriate. 
Yes The decision letter will clearly set out any remedial actions. Such 

actions are logged on the complaints management system.   

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 7

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/guidance-notes/guidance-on-remedies


24 

Any remedy proposed must be followed through to 
completion. 

6.6 In awarding compensation, a landlord must consider 
whether any statutory payments are due, if any quantifiable 
losses have been incurred, the time and trouble a resident 
has been put to as well as any distress and inconvenience 
caused. 

Yes In exceptional circumstances, it will be appropriate to consider 
monetary compensation. This may apply where the Council has 
failed to perform a statutory obligation or its actions could 
amount to maladministration, particularly where financial loss 
has occurred. Reference will be made to LGO/Housing 
Ombudsman guidance on remedies. 
 
The relevant Director has delegated authority (Scheme of 
Delegations to Officers) to pay monetary compensation. Any 
other token of redress in response to any inconvenience suffered 
by the complainant will be at the discretion of the relevant 
Director. 

 
Best practice ‘should’ requirements 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

6.3 Landlords should look beyond the circumstances of the 
individual complaint and consider whether anything needs 
to be ‘put right’ in terms of process or systems to the 
benefit of all residents. 

Yes As explained in 6.1, remedies for complainants under the 
Complaints Procedure will normally take the form of putting 
things right and an apology. This can include a review of a policy 
or project, or its implementation, to take into account the 
complaint. 

6.7 In some cases, a resident may have a legal entitlement to 
redress. The landlord should still offer a resolution where 
possible, obtaining legal advice as to how any offer of 
resolution should be worded. 

Yes If a complainant has a legal entitlement to redress, the Council 
will still offer a resolution where possible. For example, this can 
include a review of policy or instigating staff training. 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 7



25 

Section 7 – Continuous learning and improvement 
Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

7.2 Accountability and transparency are integral to a positive 
complaint handling culture. Landlords must report back on 
wider learning and improvements from complaints in their 
annual report and more frequently to their residents, staff 
and scrutiny panels. 

Yes Wider learning and improvement from complaints will be 
reported in the Housing Service’s Annual Report to tenants in 
2022 and in quarterly newsletters (‘The Link’).  

 
Best practice ‘should’ requirements 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

7.3 A member of the governing body should be appointed to 
have lead responsibility for complaints to support a positive 
complaint handling culture. This role will be responsible for 
ensuring the governing body receives regular information 
on complaints that provides insight to the governing body 
on the landlord’s complaint handling performance. 

No The Council does not have an elected Member of the governing 
body (Cabinet) with lead responsibility for complaints. However, 
the Council’s Audit Board receives an annual report from the 
Corporate Complaints Officer on complaints activity for all 
complaints in the previous year, including landlord related 
complaints. In addition, this Complaint Handling Code Self-
Assessment is presented to Cabinet on an annual basis. 
 
The Council will be convening a new Housing Advisory Board in 
July 2022 made up of elected Members, senior Officers and 
representatives from the Dartford Tenant and Leaseholders’ 
Forum. The main purpose of the group will be to have oversight 
of, and act in an advisory role, in relation to the implementation 
and progression in meeting the requirements of the 
Government’s Charter for Social Housing Residents (Social 
Housing White Paper), in order to comply with the statutory 
housing governance requirements set out by the Regulator of 
Social Housing. This Board will also consider reports on 
proposed policy, strategy and performance in relation to 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 7



26 

housing issues and make recommendations to the decision 
making body as appropriate. ACTION: A standing item on 
complaints will be added to the Housing Advisory Board 
agenda so that regular information on complaints can 
provide insight on Housing Services performance on 
complaint handling. 

7.4 As a minimum, governing bodies should receive: 
 Regular updates on the volume, categories and 

outcome of complaints, alongside complaint 
handling performance including compliance with the 
Ombudsman’s orders 

 Regular reviews of issues and trends arising from 
complaint handling, 

 The annual performance report produced by the 
Ombudsman, where applicable  

 Individual complaint outcomes where necessary, 
including where the Ombudsman made findings of 
severe maladministration or referrals to regulatory 
bodies. The implementation of management 
responses should be tracked to ensure they are 
delivered to agreed timescales. The annual self-
assessment against the Complaint Handling Code for 
scrutiny and challenge. 

Yes As explained in 7.3, the Council’s Audit Board receives an annual 
report from the Corporate Complaints Officer on complaints 
activity in the previous year for all complaints, including landlord 
related complaints. The report will: 
 
 Identify trends in complaints; 
 Identify deficiencies/weaknesses in the service and 

management systems and procedures; 
 Identify improvements to service delivery/systems introduced 

in response to complaints; 
 Recommend action to minimise or avoid similar complaints in 

future;  
 Recommend procedural improvements for handling and 

resolving complaints; 
 Identify training and information needs. 

7.5 Any themes or trends should be assessed by senior 
management to identify potential systemic issues, serious 
risks or policies and procedures that require revision. They 
should also be used to inform staff and contractor training.  

Yes The Council’s Management Team receives reports on a quarterly 
basis. Directors are responsible for discussing with their 
managers, patterns of complaints and possible service 
improvements etc. with a view to remedying any acknowledged 
deficiencies as quickly as possible. 

7.6 Landlords should have a standard objective in relation to 
complaint handling for all employees that reflects the need 
to: 

Yes It is essential for the operation of Complaints Procedure that 
Council staff adopt a positive approach to complaints handling 
and it is also important that staff should put the complainant 
first and respond positively to their complaint and treat each 

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 7



27 

 have a collaborative and co-operative approach 
towards resolving complaints, working with 
colleagues across teams and departments 

 take collective responsibility for any shortfalls 
identified through complaints rather than blaming 
others 

 act within the Professional Standards for engaging 
with complaints as set by the Chartered Institute of 
Housing. 

complaint seriously. Staff should always attempt to treat 
complainants in the way that they personally would wish to be 
treated, should they have a complaint against a third party. 
 
Complaint handling will entail a collaborative approach if a 
complaint is made against two or more Council services. In such 
circumstances, one service Manager will take the lead and 
ensure that a co-ordinated and collective response is provided 
to the complainant.  

 
Section 8 – Self-assessment and compliance 
Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 
Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 
Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary and any explanations 

8.1 Landlords must carry out an annual self-assessment against 
the Code to ensure their complaint handling remains in line 
with its requirements. 

Yes The Council’s first self-assessment was published in June 2021. 
This is the Council’s second self-assessment. Future annual self-
assessments have been scheduled into the Housing Service’s 
work plan.  

8.2 Landlords must also carry out a self-assessment following a 
significant restructure and/or change in procedures. 

Yes A new self-assessment will be carried out in such circumstances. 

8.3 Following each self-assessment, a landlord must: 
 report the outcome of their self-assessment to their 

governing body. In the case of local authorities, self-
assessment outcomes should be reported to elected 
members 

 publish the outcome of their assessment on their 
website if they have one, or otherwise make 
accessible to residents 

 include the self-assessment in their annual report 
section on complaints handling performance 

Yes This self-assessment is being reported to Cabinet in June 2022. 
 
The self-assessment will be published on the corporate 
complaints and Housing Services complaints pages on the 
website.  
 
The self-assessment will be included in the Housing Service’s 
annual report for 2022. 

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 50



APPENDIX B 

Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code: Self-Assessment Form 2022 – Action Plan 
 

Code 
Section 

Code requirement Action Responsible 
Officer 

Target 

1.4 
Best 
practice 

Landlords should recognise the 
difference between a service 
request, where a resident may 
be unhappy with a situation 
that they wish to have rectified, 
and a complaint about the 
service they have/have not 
received. 

The Corporate Complaints 
Procedure includes advice as 
to what constitutes a 
complaint, emphasising the 
importance of recognising the 
difference between a formal 
complaint and a service 
request. As part of the 
development process of the 
new complaints management 
system, additional functionality 
will look to be added that will 
enable any service requests 
received via the complaints 
process to automatically 
generate a letter to inform the 
resident that the service 
request has been passed onto 
the relevant service area. 

Director of 
Housing & Public 
Protection 

September 2022 

1.5 
Best 
practice 

Survey feedback may not 
necessarily need to be treated as 
a complaint, though, where 
possible, the person completing 
the survey should be made 
aware of how they can pursue 
their dissatisfaction as a 
complaint if they wish to. 

The Housing Service will 
include an informative in all 
survey feedback forms to 
explain how residents can 
make a complaint if they are 
dissatisfied with the service 
received.   

Head of Housing /  
Senior Housing 
Policy & 
Performance 
Officer 

September 2022 

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 7



Code 
Section 

Code requirement Action Responsible 
Officer 

Target 

2.6 
Mandatory 

Landlords must publicise the 
complaints policy and process, 
the Complaint Handling Code 
and the Housing Ombudsman 
Scheme in leaflets, posters, 
newsletters, online and as part 
of regular correspondence with 
residents. 

Information will be included as 
a standing article in the tenant 
newsletter (‘The Link’) about 
the Complaints Procedure, the 
Complaint Handling Code and 
the Housing Ombudsman 
Scheme. 

Head of Housing /  
Senior Housing 
Policy & 
Performance 
Officer 

July 2022 and ongoing 
 

2.7 
Mandatory 

Landlords must provide 
residents with contact 
information for the Ombudsman 
as part of its regular 
correspondence with residents. 

Contact information for the 
Ombudsman will be included 
in regular Housing Service 
correspondence letter 
templates. 

Head of Housing /  
Senior Housing 
Policy & 
Performance 
Officer 

September 2022 

5.1 
Mandatory 

Landlords must respond to the 
complaint within 10 working 
days of the complaint being 
logged. Exceptionally, landlords 
may provide an explanation to 
the resident containing a clear 
timeframe for when the 
response will be received. This 
should not exceed a further 10 
days without good reason. 

The Corporate Complaints 
Procedure will be amended to 
align with the Code timescales 
of 10 working days for Stage 1 
responses to Housing 
Services/landlord complaints. 

Head of Legal 
Services 
 

September 2022 
Actioned 19.05.2022 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints/stages-
corporate-complaints-procedure  

5.13 
Best 
practice 

Landlords must respond to the 
stage two complaint within 20 
working days of the complaint 
being escalated. Exceptionally, 
landlords may provide an 
explanation to the resident 
containing a clear timeframe for 
when the response will be 
received. This should not exceed 

The Corporate Complaints 
Procedure will be amended to 
align with the Code timescales 
of 20 working days for Stage 2 
responses across all service 
areas. 

Head of Legal 
Services 

September 2022 
Actioned 19.05.2022 

P
age 52

A
genda Item

 7

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints/stages-corporate-complaints-procedure
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/complaints/stages-corporate-complaints-procedure


Code 
Section 

Code requirement Action Responsible 
Officer 

Target 

a further 10 days without good 
reason. 

7.3 
Best 
practice 

A member of the governing 
body should be appointed to 
have lead responsibility for 
complaints to support a positive 
complaint handling culture. This 
role will be responsible for 
ensuring the governing body 
receives regular information on 
complaints that provides insight 
to the governing body on the 
landlord’s complaint handling 
performance. 

A standing item on complaints 
will be added to the Housing 
Advisory Board agenda so that 
regular information on 
complaints can provide insight 
on Housing Services 
performance on complaint 
handling. 

Head of Housing / 
Senior Housing 
Policy & 
Performance 
Officer 

September 2022 

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 54



CABINET 
23 June 2022 

STREET NAMING & NUMBERING – 
Alkerden Locality, Phase 2 

 
Ebbsfleet 
 
1.  Summary 
 
 To approve four new road names for the second phase of the Alkerden 
 locality in Ebbsfleet Valley. 
 
2.  RECOMMENDATION 
 
 
 That the four new road names for the second phase of the 
 Alkerden locality in Ebbsfleet Valley be approved as Colyer, Combes, Hassell 
 and Homefield 
 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

This is the second phase of the Alkerden locality in Ebbsfleet Valley and will 
comprise of 182 properties.   

The proposed names were taken from information from the Dartford Museum 
based on the 1843 Tithe Maps on who tenanted the land and from a document 
detailing the local history of the site.  

The names were submitted for consultation to Members, the Emergency 
Services, Royal Mail and the developer together with a site plan, set out as 
Appendix A to this report.   

The names comply with the Council’s Policy on Street Naming. 

Councillors Kite, Mrs Thurlow, Mote, Lloyd, Shippam, Brown and Wells have 
no objections to the names.  Kent Police and Royal Mail also have no 
objections. 

There were no other responses. 

Suitable suffixes will be chosen once the final road names have been approved. 

The developer requires the names as soon as possible to ensure that the 
utilities are connected.  

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

 Not Applicable 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Page 55 Agenda Item 8



CABINET 
23 June 2022 

Financial Implications None 
Legal Implications It is open to the developer to object in the 

Magistrates’ Court to a street naming.  If the 
developer’s suggested names are in accord with 
Council Policy, it is likely that the Magistrates will 
rule in favour of the developer. 

Climate Impact 
Assessment 

No Impact 

Staffing Implications None 
Administrative Implications None 
Risk Assessment No uncertainties 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 

 
Not applicable 
 

7. Appendices 
 
 Appendix A – Map of proposed site – Consultation Alkerden Phase 2 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents  
Consulted 

Date /  
File Ref 

Report 
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

Street Naming and 
Numbering Guidance 

Dec 2013 Samantha 
Eastwood 

Property Information  N/A 

Page 56Agenda Item 8



@ A4°1:10,000

H:
\M

ap
s &

 P
lan

s\M
ap

 Te
mp

lat
es

\P
I_M

ap
pin

g_
A4

_L
an

d_
da

te.
mx

d
Ma

p P
rod

uc
ed

 B
y: 

se
as

tw
oo

d O
n: 

09
/05

/20
22

 12
:12

 P
M

Appendix A
Alkerden Locality Phase 2
(Parcel 5A)

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2022
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2022

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 58


	Agenda
	Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on 26 May 2022
	7 Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code - Self Assessment
	APPENDIX A - Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code - Self-Assessment 2022
	APPENDIX B - Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code - Action Plan 2022

	8 Street Naming and Numbering - Alkerden Locality, Phase 2 (Parcel 5A)
	Consultation Plan (Appendix A)


